IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-2494

FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

EUGENE A. COX and DEBRA COX,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT

Mark J. Upton, Esq. Daniell, Upton, Perry & Morris, P.C. Post Office Box 1800 Daphne, Alabama 36524 Telephone: (251) 625-0044 Facsimile: (251) 625-0464 Elliot H. Scherker, Esq. Florida Bar No. 202304 Elliot B. Kula, Esq. Florida Bar No. 003794 Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 579-0500 Facsimile: (305) 579-0717

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company (Florida Farm) wrote a windstorm policy for a residence owned by respondents Eugene A. Cox and Debra Cox (the Coxes) in Milton, Florida. The policy expressly excluded any losses caused, either directly or indirectly, by flood or water damage of any kind. The Coxes' home was rendered a total loss as a result of damage caused by Hurricane Ivan in September 2004.

The policy's limitation to windstorm damage, and its express *exclusion* of flood damage notwithstanding, the First District Court of Appeal held that Florida's Valued Policy Law (VPL), as that statute existed at the time the Coxes' claim accrued, obligated Florida Farm to pay out policy limits if *any* wind-related damage had been inflicted upon the residence – even if the damage was the equivalent of 1% of the total loss. The First District aligned itself with the Fourth District's decision in *Mierzwa v. Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association*, 877 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), holding that the VPL requires an insurer to pay policy limits for total losses caused by *uncovered* perils.

Both *Mierzwa* and the First District's decision in this case overlook the VPL's purpose, the statute's plain language, and the clear recitation in the legislative history of 2005 amendments to the VPL – all of which show that the Fourth District simply got it wrong in *Mierzwa*. The pre-2005 VPL has no application to multiple-cause losses when an insurer's coverage is limited to a single peril only. *Mierzwa* and the First District's decision have stretched the VPL beyond its breaking point. This Court should overturn those decisions because the

1

courts should not – and, indeed, *cannot* – rewrite a plainly stated statutory provision to require an insurer to pay out policy limits for uncovered losses, and to inflict on Florida's citizenry the inevitable costs of providing coverage for uncovered perils.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. THE COXES' CLAIM.

Florida Farm issued a homeowner's insurance policy to the Coxes for their residence, insuring the residence against windstorm and other identified perils, with policy limits of \$65,000 for the dwelling, as well as coverage for other structures, personal property and loss of use. (R:9). Appendix ("A") 1. The policy expressly excludes water damage, including "[f]lood, surface water, waves, tidal water, overflow of a body of water, or spray from any of these, whether or not driven by wind." (R:25). The Coxes carried no flood insurance on their residence. (R:1).

It is undisputed that the Coxes' residence suffered extensive damage when Hurricane Ivan struck Santa Rosa County on September 16, 2004. (R:2, 47). The residence was deemed a total loss due to flood damage; although wind contributed to the damage, the wind damage was "substantially less than fifty percent of the total damage to the home." (R:2, 47).

In response to the Coxes' demand for coverage (R:40), Florida Farm tendered \$11,583.93 for windstorm damage, as well as payments for damage to other structures, and living expenses. (R:2-3). The Coxes declined Florida Farm's

2

tender and Florida Farm brought an action for declaratory judgment. (R:1-44). The Coxes answered and counterclaimed for damages. (R:45-50). The counterclaim sought, in part, "the full value of [the] policy" under the VPL, § 627.702, Fla. Stat. (2004). (R:48-49).

The Coxes filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings, relying on *Mierzwa v. Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association*, 877 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). (R:103-06). The trial court granted a judgment on the pleadings, ruling that under *Mierzwa*, "if it is found that a carrier has any liability at all to the owner [of] a building damaged by a covered peril and deemed a total loss, that liability is for the face amount of the policy." (R:136-37).

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION.

The First District upheld the trial court's judgment. *Fla. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co. v. Cox*, 943 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). (A:2). The court held that "plain language in the 2004 version of the statute makes the insurer liable, if at all, ... in the full amount for which the property was insured," *i.e.*, "[i]f an insurer has any obligation under the policy to pay on account of a covered peril, and the structure is a total loss, then the insurer is responsible for paying the total amount of the policy," even if uncovered perils contributed to the loss, because "[t]he insurer's responsibility to pay the full amount of the policy is triggered when a loss occurs and the insurer has 'any' liability for a covered peril." 943 So. 2d at 828.

The dissenting opinion takes the majority to task for applying the VPL to override the express exclusion for water damage, particularly because "the statute only speaks to valuation and does not address causation at all." Id. at 839 (Polston,

J., dissenting). As the dissent concluded:

The unambiguous language of the policy excludes water damage. Pursuant to this exclusion, [Florida Farm] should not be held responsible for the damage to the Coxes' property caused by water. However, because the property is a total loss, the VPL still controls the valuation of the property. Therefore, because the property in this case is a total loss, the value of the property is set by the policy value of \$65,000. The parties cannot dispute that this is the correct value of the property. Accordingly, this value, \$65,000, should be used to determine the amount of losses caused by the wind, a covered peril. For example, if the wind caused 10% of the damage, then [Florida Farm] is liable for \$6,500.

Id. at 839-40 (footnote omitted).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The VPL was enacted as a liquidated-damages statute, applicable to coverage for a single-peril event. The statute was intended to foreclose an insurer that had enjoyed payment of full premiums for a covered loss from avoiding liability for that loss. The Florida courts should not refashion the VPL to apply to a *multi-peril* loss, contrary to the statute's plain meaning and intent, a policy's express language, and the governing principles of contract law.

As construed by the First District in this case, and the Fourth District, *Mierzwa v. Fla. Windstorm Underwriting Ass'n*, 877 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), the VPL would require payment of policy limits in the event of an actual or constructive total loss, regardless of policy exclusions. That construction cannot

be accepted without doing violence to the VPL's purposes and wreaking havoc on Florida's insurance industry.

Since its 1899 inception, and at least through amendments in 2005, Florida's VPL was a statutory liquidated-damages provision that was intended only to accomplish the twin purposes of preventing an insured from over-insuring property and, secondarily, ensuring that a property insurer would not value an insured's property, collect premiums based on that valuation, and then withhold payment of policy limits when the property was rendered a total loss. The VPL was never intended to address multiple-peril total losses, and the interpretation adopted by the First District from *Mierzwa* stretches the VPL far beyond its narrow scope.

The 2005 amendments, while significantly reshaping the VPL on a prospective basis, show, through extensive legislative history, that the First and Fourth Districts have misinterpreted the pre-2005 statute. The Legislature expressly declared that *Mierzwa* had misconstrued the VPL, and, of course, the courts are required to accord great difference to that declaration. The legislative history plainly shows that the pre-2005 VPL was never intended by the Legislature to require an insurer whose policy expressly excludes an identified peril to pay out policy limits beyond the damage caused by a covered peril when a property is rendered a total loss.

5

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

A judgment on the pleadings is subject to *de novo* review on appeal. *E.g.*, *Henao v. Prof'l Shoe Repair, Inc.*, 929 So. 2d 723, 725 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). A *de novo* standard also applies to questions of statutory construction on appeal. *E.g.*,

Waste Mgmt., Inc. v. Mora, 940 So. 2d 1105, 1107 (Fla. 2006).

II. THE VPL CANNOT BE CONSTRUED TO REQUIRE AN INSURER TO PAY POLICY LIMITS FOR TOTAL LOSSES CAUSED BY UNCOVERED PERILS.

A. The VPL.

Florida's VPL, as it existed when the Coxes' claims against Florida Farm accrued, provided, in pertinent part:

In the event of the total loss of any building ... insured by any insurer as to a covered peril ... the insurer's liability, if any, under the policy for such total loss shall be in the amount of money for which such property was so insured as specified in the policy and for which a premium has been charged and paid.

§ 627.702(1), Fla. Stat. (2004).

Such "valued policy" laws, requiring an insurer to "fix the value of the property insured, which shall be conclusive and the amount recoverable in case of a total loss," are fairly common. 12 COUCH ON INS., § 175:103 (3d ed. 2005) (footnote omitted). Under such statutes, the policy limits "determine[] the amount of recovery in case of total loss, and the insured need not prove value." *Id.* at § 175:105. Valued policy laws are intended "to protect the insured by relieving him or her of the burden of proving the full value of his or her property after total

destruction, and to prevent insurers from receiving premiums on over-valuations but thereafter repudiating their contracts when it becomes in their interest to do so." *Id.* at § 175:103.¹ In the case of multiple insurers of a single property, "the aggregate amount of insurance written is conclusive as to the value of the property," such that each insurer is liable for its policy's full amount. *Id.* at § 175:106.

Florida's VPL has existed, in one form or another, since 1899. *See Hartford Fire Ins. Co. v. Redding*, 47 Fla. 228, 37 So. 62, 64-65 (1904). In its first encounter with the VPL, this Court set forth its understanding of the statute's purpose:

The statute requires the insurer to fix the insurable value of a building, and to specify such value in the policy, and the measure of damages in case of total loss is fixed at the amount mentioned in the policy upon which a premium is paid.... Its principal object and purpose is to fix the measure of damages in case of loss total, or partial; and, to this end, it requires the insurer to ascertain the insurable value at the time of writing the policy, and to write it therein.

¹ In 1874, Wisconsin became the first state to adopt a valued policy law. *Seider v. O'Connell,* 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659, 671-72 (2000). Other states' valued policy law statutes, like the original incarnation of Florida's VPL, were limited to fire insurance, having been motivated by a "growing number of incendiary fires on overinsured property," which had "prompted insurance companies to limit recovery amounts to the policyholder's actual bss." *Id.* at 671 (citations omitted). The statutes were born of legislatures' intentions "to discourage owners from over-insuring property while simultaneously thwarting insurers from collecting excessive premiums." *Id.* at 672.

Id. at 65. Because, as originally enacted, the VPL was limited to fire insurance, *id.* at 64, it was applied to require that "the value of a fire insurance policy, upon total loss by fire or lightning, must be paid to the insured." *Am. Ins. Co. of Newark, N.J. v. Robinson,* 120 Fla. 674, 163 So. 17, 19 (1935).

The rationale for valued policy laws was to provide a *de facto* liquidateddamages recovery for insureds who incurred a total loss:

Undoubtedly an important object of the statute is also to simplify and facilitate prompt settlement of insurance claims when a total loss occurs. It serves to remove what would otherwise be a very troublesome and difficult issue to resolve either between the parties by negotiation or by the courts in litigation. This issue is the money loss sustained which the insured must indemnify. The value specific property had is hard to ascertain after its destruction because the usual evidence relied upon for such assessment is unavailable.... A solution to this is found in the statute which in effect requires the parties to ascertain and agree in advance what the value is and in the case of total loss by the insured peril this amount shall be paid as liquidated damages.

Springfield Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Boswell, 167 So. 2d 780, 784 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964) (footnote omitted); *accord, Hallcom v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 654 So. 2d 245, 247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); *Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Kirkland*, 490 So. 2d 149, 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); *Millers' Mut. Ins. Ass'n of Ill. v. La Pota*, 197 So. 2d 21, 23-24 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967).²

² As will be discussed at greater length in this brief, the VPL was amended in 1982 to expand its application to all covered perils. Ch. 82-243, § 539, Laws of Fla.

That overriding purpose informs the statute's application to multiple insurers that provided coverage for the same peril:

When there are several permissible concurrent policies of fire insurance and there is a total destruction by fire of the insured premises, the aggregate amount of the insurance written, or the sum of the face amounts in the policies for this peril, is conclusive as to the value of the property insured and the true amount of the loss and measure of damages when so destroyed. Each insurer is liable for the full amount of its policy, provided, of course, there is no fraud or other conduct of the insured that would constitute a valid defense to an action to recover for the loss.

Boswell, 167 So. 2d at 784 (footnote omitted). The court recognized that the

VPL's fundamental purposes might be thwarted if the rule were otherwise:

This is not an unfair scheme, as the insured is stating the limits of his recovery and at the same time the insurer is basing his premium charges on the extent of his maximum exposure. When the total loss occurs neither can contend the value of the destroyed property is any different from what they had previously specified. When multiple policies are permissible, as here, the same principles apply. The aggregate liability is the total of the various values specified and for which an appropriate premium has been paid.

* * * *

One of the very mischiefs the [VPL] sought to suppress arises in this case, and that is the haggling over the measure of liability. The mischief is more irksome when multiple insurers become involved and one or more seeks some escape from full response.

Id. at 784-85.

But here, the Florida Farm policy that was sold to the Coxes *excludes* coverage for flood or other water damage. (R:25; A:1). The parties to an insurance contract are bound by the contract's plain language. *See Prudential*

Prop. & *Cas. Ins. Co. v. Swindal,* 622 So. 2d 467, 470 (Fla. 1993) ("[i]nsurance contracts are construed in accordance with the plain language of the policies as bargained for by the parties"); *accord, e.g., Koikos v. Travelers Ins. Co.,* 849 So. 2d 263, 266 (Fla. 2003); *Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Anderson,* 756 So. 2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000). An insurer is accordingly entitled to enforcement of express coverage exclusions. *E.g., Swire Pac. Holdings, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. Co.,* 845 So. 2d 161, 166-67 (Fla. 2003); *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Metro. Dade County,* 639 So. 2d 63, 65-66 (Fla. 3d DCA), *review denied,* 649 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1994). And, even when arguable ambiguity is present (which it undisputedly is not here), the courts may not "rewrite contracts, add meaning that is not present, or otherwise reach results contrary to the intentions of the parties." *Swire,* 845 So. 2d at 165 (citation omitted).

"In the absence of statutory provisions to the contrary, insurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose such conditions as they wish upon their obligations, not inconsistent with public policy, and the courts are without the right to add to or take away anything from their contracts." *France v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 380 So. 2d 1155, 1156 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). If a policy provision is indeed in "conflict" with a statutory provision in the insurance code, the courts cannot enforce the statutorily invalid provision. *E.g., Boman v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 505 So. 2d 445, 449-50 (Fla. 1st DCA), *review denied*, 509 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1987). The question here is whether Florida Farm – and, by extension, all residential insurers doing business in Florida before 2005 – should be entitled to

enforce flood exclusions in windstorm policies, or whether the VPL overrides such clear policy exclusions.

B. Interpreting the VPL to Require an Insurer to Pay Policy Limits for a Total Loss Caused Only in Part by a Covered Peril Is an Untenable Construction of the Statute.

Mierzwa v. Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association, 877 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), was the first Florida decision to interpret the VPL as something other than a liquidated-damages guarantee for single covered-peril losses. The homeowner insured brought a claim against the Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association (FWUA) under the FWUA's windstorm coverage. *Id.* at 776. The FWUA policy "expressly excluded flood damage," and the insured had purchased flood coverage from another insurer. *Id.* The Fourth District held that the FWUA was nonetheless liable for the policy's windstorm-coverage face amount:

The VPL statutory text does not require that a covered peril be *the* covered peril causing the entire loss; it need merely be *a* covered peril. Plainly when these requisites exist, pro rata liability under the VPL would be in conflict with its terms, because the VPL provides that *any* liability of a casualty insurer where a covered peril is involved in a total loss must be for the face amount rather than pro rata with other coverages.

Id. at 776 (original emphasis).

The Fourth District thus construed the VPL to mean that, when two (or more) perils combine to cause a total loss, an insurer who contracted to provide coverage for only one of those perils and expressly not for the other is nonetheless liable for its policy limits. That construction converts the VPL from a liquidateddamages provision for single-peril losses into an anti-apportionment provision governing *multiple*-peril total losses.³

3 No other state's valued policy law has ever been construed to require coverage in this scenario. In the only decision that appears to have addressed a similar claim, Brady v. State Ins. Co. of Neb., 100 Neb. 497, 160 N.W. 882 (1916), the insured residence was destroyed, partially by a tornado and partially by fire. Id. at 883. The homeowner had separate polices for tornado and fire coverage (with the same carrier). Id. Under Nebraska's valued policy law, where two insurers provided coverage for the *same* peril, each is liable for the full policy amount in the event of a total loss from the peril. *Id.* at 885 ("[w]here several concurrent policies of insurance upon real property have been written ..., and the property insured is wholly destroyed by fire, each company is liable for the full amount of its policy") (citation omitted). But the court held that, where multiple perils destroy the property, "[t]he case is entirely different from where two or more insurance companies ... write a specific amount of insurance upon a building covering the same liability" and the insurer would not be required to pay out the policy limits for the non-covered peril. *Id.* at 884. The court reasoned:

> We think it is a matter of common knowledge, not only among insurers but with the insuring public, that insurance for a certain sum against loss or damage by fire or lightning, and for the same sum for loss or damage by tornado, is understood and intended to mean that the insurance by the second policy is not for a sum in addition to the first, but is the assumption by the insurer of risk from elements not covered by the first policy. When a fire policy is taken on a building, it is not unusual for the insurer to grant additional protection against loss or damage by tornadoes by what is called a "rider" attached to the fire policy, in which the insurer, for a certain additional amount of premium, assumes the risk for damage by tornado; the amount of this additional premium being based upon the extent to which the insured desires the insurer to assume this additional risk. In such a case, it surely would not be claimed that under the valued policy law the insurer could be held liable for both amounts; this, for the reason that the assured can only recover under the provisions of the valued policy law when his building

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