## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### CASE NO. SC06-2494

## FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

**EUGENE A. COX and DEBRA COX,** 

**Respondents.** 

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT CASE NO. 1D05-4111

# **RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF**

GREGORY M. SHOEMAKER Fla. Bar No. 883890 SCHOFIELD, WADE, ROANE & SHOEMAKER, P.A. 25 West Cedar Street, Suite 450 Post Office Box 13510 Pensacola, Florida 32591-3510 (850) 429-0755 (850) 429-0871 (fax) LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM Fla. Bar No. 194435 LOUIS K. ROSENBLOUM, P.A. 4300 Bayou Boulevard, Suite 36 Pensacola, Florida 32503 (850) 475-1211 (850) 475-1290 (fax) Irosenbloum@rosenbloumlaw.com

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

First, the specific alteration made by the 2005 legislature to the wording of the VPL that effectively overruled <u>Mierzwa</u> for future claims was the omission of the words "if any." <u>See Mierzwa</u>, 877 So. 2d at 775-76. "When the legislature amends a statute by omitting words, the general rule of construction is to presume that the legislature intended the statute to have a different meaning from that accorded it before the amendment." <u>Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Buck</u>, 594 So. 2d 280, 283 (Fla. 1992). Thus, by omitting the phrase "if any," the 2005 legislature was not clarifying prior legislative intent. Rather, the legislature intended the 2005 version of the VPL to have a different meaning from the 2004 version.

Second, many clarifying amendments simply add a statement of legislative intent without modifying the operative portion of the statute. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Palma Del</u> <u>Mar Condo. Ass'n #5 of St. Petersburg, Inc. v. Commercial Laundries of W. Fla.</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 586 So. 2d 315, 317 (Fla. 1991). In this case, however, the legislature revised the text of the original statute, signaling its intent to change existing law, not clarify prior legislative intent.

Third, although not required, a clarifying amendment typically includes a statement in the title or preamble that expressly indicates that the amendment is clarifying legislative intent. For example, in the case relied upon by Farm Bureau, <u>State v. Lanier</u>, 464 So. 2d 1192, 1193 (Fla. 1985), the amendment stated in the preamble: "WHEREAS, the intent of the Legislature <u>was</u> and remains . . . ."

(emphasis the court's). Similarly, in <u>Lincoln v. Florida Parole Comm'n</u>, 643 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), the title to the law stated "that one of its purposes lay in 'clarifying that provisions of s. 947.1405, F.S., apply to persons sentenced as habitual offenders." <u>Id</u>. at 672. In this case, neither the title, preamble nor text of Chapter 2005-111, Laws of Florida, provides a statement that the VPL amendments were intended to clarify <u>prior</u> legislative intent. To the contrary, although the original version of SB 1488 included a statement that the amendment "is remedial in nature and intended to clarify the intent of that section [section 627.702]," the legislature deleted that provision and substituted an entirely different bill.<sup>12</sup> (Tab 15 at 66).

Fourth, although the April 7, 2005 staff analysis quoted extensively by Farm Bureau (Initial Brief at 22-24) includes several statements which criticize <u>Mierzwa</u> and suggest the need for legislative clarification, that staff analysis was directed to the original April 7, 2005 version of SB 1488 which the legislature abandoned on May 5, 2005, in favor of the bill which ultimately became law.<sup>13</sup> In fact, all the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The legislature also removed the following statement from the title of the April 7, 2005 version of SB 1488: "providing that the amendment to s. 627.702, F.S., is intended to be remedial and clarifying in nature." (Tab 14 at 5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> One statement at page seven of the April 7, 2005 Senate staff analysis quoted by Farm Bureau (Initial Brief at 21) states:

Valued Policy Law (*Mierzwa*) -- The Legislature should consider amending the valued policy law (s. 627.702, F.S.) to

staff analyses for SB 1488 which discuss the <u>Mierzwa</u> case were directed to the original version of SB 1488 and were all issued before the Senate filed the May 5, 2005 version of the bill which passed the legislature on June 6, 2005. (Tabs 17-19). Further, neither staff analysis accompanying SB 1486 mentions the <u>Mierzwa</u> case. (Tabs 10-11). In short, there are no reported staff analyses for either SB 1486 or SB 1488 which mention the May 5 revised version of the bill which became law as Chapter 2005-111, § 16, Laws of Florida. (Tabs 10-11, 17-19).

The only written explanation for the 2005 VPL amendment is the text of the legislation itself which reflects a material alteration to then-existing law without retroactive effect, not a clarification of then-existing law. Therefore, the legislative history fully supports the district court's conclusion that "[t]he VPL amendment cannot be read as clarification of the legislative intent animating its predecessor, since the amendment states unambiguously that the amended statute is not to be

clarify that a property insurer is responsible to pay only for that portion of damage to a structure which is caused by a peril insured under the property insurance policy and is not required to pay for damage caused by excluded perils; thereby clarifying that the Fourth DCA opinion in *Mierzwa v. Florida Windstorm Underwriting Association* was incorrect.

(Tab 18 at 7). As the staff analysis indicates at page four, this statement is not attributable to the Senate staff but is one of the twenty-one recommendations listed in the Final Report and Recommendations of the Joint Selection Committee on Hurricane Insurance available at http://www.flains.org/fic/pubs/factbook/0301Joint CommFinalReport.pdf. (Tab 18 at 4).

applied retroactively to claims filed before enactment of the amendment." <u>Cox</u>, 943 So. 2d at 829 (slip op. at 10).

Farm Bureau cites numerous cases (Initial Brief at 23) for the proposition that "[w]hen . . . an amendment to a statute is enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the original act arise, a court may consider that amendment as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof." Lowry v. Parole & Probation Comm'n, 473 So. 2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1985). However, this court subsequently explained:

We did state in <u>Lowry</u> that a clarifying amendment to a statute that is enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of a statute arise may be considered as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change. It would be absurd, however, to consider legislation enacted more than ten years after the original act as a clarification of original intent; the membership of the 1992 legislature substantially differed from that of the 1982 legislature.

<u>State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Laforet</u>, 658 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 1995). <u>Accord</u> <u>McKenzie Check Advance of Fla., LLC v. Betts</u>, 928 So. 2d 1204, 1210 (Fla. 2006) ("[W]e conclude that seven years is too long to view the amendment as merely a clarification of legislative intent."); <u>M.W. v. Davis</u>, 756 So. 2d 90, 103 n.26 (Fla. 2000) ("Due to the gap between when the language was originally placed in the statute and the most recent amendment, the 1999 amendment cannot be seen as clarifying the Legislature's intent in 1986 . . . "). <u>Cf. Dadeland Depot,</u> <u>Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 945 So. 2d 1216, 1230-31 (Fla. 2006).</u>

In this case, although the 2005 legislature undoubtedly was reacting to <u>Mierzwa</u>, it rewrote a statute which had remained essentially unchanged for twenty-three years and deleted crucial language ("if any") which the legislature added in 1959 before many of the 2005 legislators were born. Paraphrasing <u>Laforet</u>, it would be absurd to consider legislation enacted almost fifty years after the original act as a clarification of original intent.

In sum, the legislative history and principles of statutory construction cited above indicate that the 2005 amendment to the Valued Policy Law, which permits insurers to apportion total losses between covered and excluded perils, represents a material change to the law which applies only to future claims. It follows that the 2004 VPL, which controls this case, prohibits such apportionment in accordance with <u>Mierzwa</u>.

### **IV. AMICI'S ARGUMENTS**

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation argues that <u>Mierzwa</u> and <u>Cox</u> may lead to double recovery by allowing insureds to collect from both their flood insurer and windstorm insurer for the same loss.<sup>14</sup> Citizens' Amicus Brief at 7-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The Coxes did not carry flood insurance. (R-I 1 at  $\P$  3).

Florida courts, however, have historically rejected the "double recovery" argument

when applying the VPL. As noted by one commentator:

Florida courts have uniformly held that "the Valued policy law is founded upon the theory of 'calculated risk,' while the pro rata insurance clauses are based upon the theory of 'indemnity.'" For this reason, the statute operates like a liquidated damages clause rather than as an indemnity contract. What the insured receives, by law, when he purchases an insurance policy in this state is the right to recover the policy limits if the insured property is totally destroyed, whether in whole or in part, by a <u>covered peril</u>. In other words, the wind carrier need not be concerned about the contractual relationship between the insured and his other peril carrier.

R. Jason Richards, Florida's "Valued Policy Law": Clarifying Some Misconceptions, 79 Fla. Bar J. 18, 20 (Dec. 2005) (emphasis in original; footnotes omitted).

Mr. Richards' analysis is supported by the First District's decision in <u>Springfield Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Boswell</u>, 167 So. 2d 780 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964). In that case, the owners of a dwelling destroyed by fire were covered by two separate fire insurance policies. After the first insurer paid policy limits, the second insurer, Springfield, declined payment. The owners sued Springfield based on the Valued Policy Law and obtained a summary final judgment for the policy limits. The First District affirmed and held that when multiple insurance companies cover the same loss, the VPL requires each insurer to pay its policy

limits even if the policy includes an "other insurance" clause that attempts to limit the insurer's liability to its pro rata share. Id. at 784. As the court explained:

> When there are several permissible concurrent policies of fire insurance and there is a total destruction by fire of the insured premises, the aggregate amount of the insurance written, or the sum of the face amounts in the policies for this peril, is conclusive as to the value of the property insured and the true amount of the loss and measure of damages when so destroyed. Each insurer is liable for the full amount of his policy, provided, of course, there is no fraud or other conduct of the insured which would constitute a valid defense to an action to recover for the loss.

Id. (footnote omitted). See also Cooper v. Alford, 446 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (holding that mortgagee under loss payable clause was entitled to receive the proceeds of the policy to the extent of his interest after the insured dwelling was destroyed by fire, even though the mortgagee also recovered under his separate fire policy in which he was the named insured and he would receive more in cumulative insurance proceeds than was owed by the mortgagor at time of the loss); La Pota, 197 So. 2d at 23 (holding that the VPL takes precedence over the policy's "pro rata liability" clause, thereby permitting an insured to recover the face amount of two separate policies covering the same property which was totally destroyed by fire).

State Farm Florida Insurance Company cites several federal district court orders from Louisiana which declined to apply <u>Mierzwa</u> under the Louisiana VPL

for total bsses caused concurrently by covered and excluded perils. <u>See Richard v.</u> <u>State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, Civil Action No. 06-1134, 2006 WL 3499901 (W.D. La. Dec. 4, 2006); <u>Chauvin v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.</u>, 450 F. Supp. 2d 660 (E.D. La. 2006); <u>Turk v. Louisiana Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp.</u>, Civil Action No. 06-144, 2006 WL 1635677 (W.D. La. June 6, 2006). These rulings have not been tested by appellate review and are based on principles of Louisiana law which differ from Florida law. The Louisiana VPL provides:

> Under any fire insurance policy insuring inanimate, immovable property in this state, if the insurer places a valuation upon the covered property and uses such valuation for purposes of determining the premium charge to be made under the policy, in the case of total loss the insurer shall compute and indemnify or compensate any covered loss of, or damage to, such property which occurs during the term of the policy at such valuation without deduction or offset, unless a different method is to be used in the computation of loss, in which latter case, the policy, and any application therefor, shall set forth in type of equal size, the actual method of such loss computation by the insurer. Coverage may be voided under said contract in the event of criminal fault on the part of the insured or the assigns of the insured.

La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 22:695(A) (2004) (emphasis supplied).<sup>15</sup>

The <u>Chauvin</u> case provides an extensive analysis of the Louisiana VPL as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Although the plain wording of the Louisiana VPL limits its application to single-peril fire insurance policies, there is a conflict under Louisiana law as to whether the term "fire insurance policy" includes multi-peril policies. <u>See Chauvin</u>, 450 F. Supp. 2d at 664-665.

applied to total losses caused concurrently by covered and excluded perils. In that case, the district court judge concluded that the critical language in the Louisiana VPL ("the insurer shall compute and indemnify or compensate any covered loss") is ambiguous. See id. at 665-66 ("A literal reading of this clause can support plaintiffs' assertions that the statute requires insurers to pay any amount of covered loss at the full value of the policy. However, the language also admits of another interpretation. The statute can be read to require that the total loss also be a covered loss in order for the VPL to apply."). Under Louisiana law, "[w]hen statutory language is ambiguous, the Court must look to the context of the law as a whole to determine its meaning. . . . If the statute is susceptible of multiple meanings, it must be interpreted as having the meaning that best conforms to the purpose of the law." Id. at 665 (citing La. Civ. Code arts. 10, 12). Applying these principles, the court concluded "that the total loss [must] be a covered loss in order for the VPL to apply." Id. at 666. The court, however, would have reached a different conclusion under Florida law because in our state ambiguous insurance statutes incorporated into policies by operation of law are construed liberally in favor of the insured to provide the greatest possible indemnity. See CTC, 720 So. 2d at 1076; Poole, 179 So. at 142.

In refusing to apply <u>Mierzwa</u> in Louisiana, the district court judge in <u>Chauvin</u> made a glaring error. The <u>Chauvin</u> court cited <u>Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v.</u>

<u>Ceballo</u>, 934 So. 2d 546 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. granted</u>, 940 So. 2d 1124 (Fla. 2006), for the proposition that "[a] second Florida appellate court has directly rejected the logic of the <u>Mierzwa</u> decision." <u>Chauvin</u>, 450 F. Supp. 2d at 668. However, <u>Ceballo</u> disagreed with <u>Mierzwa</u> and certified conflict based solely on the section of the <u>Mierzwa</u> opinion dealing with ordinance and law coverage. <u>See Ceballo</u>, 934 So. 2d at 538. Contrary to the <u>Chauvin</u> court's understanding, the <u>Ceballo</u> court did not "directly reject" <u>Mierzwa</u>'s interpretation of the VPL in the context of total losses caused concurrently by covered and excluded perils. <u>Ceballo</u> involved a total loss caused by a single peril. <u>See Ceballo</u>, 934 So. 2d at 537.

The <u>Chauvin</u> court further states that the Florida legislature revised the VPL after <u>Mierzwa</u> was decided "to make clear that an insurer is not responsible for damage caused by excluded perils." <u>Chauvin</u>, 450 F. Supp. 2d at 668. The court failed to note, however, that the revised VPL is not retroactive.

State Farm also argues that the First District's construction of the 2004 VPL raises constitutional concerns, including impairment of contract and taking of property without due process. State Farm Amicus Brief at 15-16. An amicus, however, lacks standing to challenge the constitutionality of a statute when the issue has not been raised by the parties. <u>See Acton v. Ft. Lauderdale Hosp.</u>, 418 So. 2d 1099, 1100-01 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), <u>approved</u>, 440 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1983). The parties in this case have not raised any constitutional issues in the courts

below, and such issues were not mentioned by either the majority or the dissent in the district court.

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